#### I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Court on a certified question from the First District Court of Appeal. The Petitioner is Ricky Renoried Mathis, defendant and appellant below, who shall be referred to by his name or as Petitioner.

Record designations are as follows:

	"R	_"	-	Record on D	irect	: Appeal	to	this	Cou	rt.		
	"T			Transcript	of p	roceedi	ngs	held	on	April	27	and
29,	1994.											
	"S	_"	_	Sentencing	held	June 29	. 1	994.				
	"SUP1.		1	_ First Sup	plem	ental R	ecoi	cd on	App	peal:	Supp	ole-
ment	al Tran	scr	ip	t, Vol I-IV	, of	the Hea	rin	g on	cha!	llenge	to	ha-
bitu	ual offer	ndei	r s	statute, Feb	ruary	7 28, 19	94.					

"SUP2.\_\_\_\_" - Second Supplemental Record on Appeal: Record on appeal of the Hearing on Challenge to habitual offender statute, February 28, 1994.

"SUP3.\_\_" - Third Supplemental Record on Appeal including exhibits, motions, and:

"M.\_\_\_\_" - Motion Hearings of March 31, 1994, June 16, 1994, and April 19, 1994, part of 3rd Supp.ROA.

"SUP4.\_\_" - Fourth Supplemental Record on Appeal: Jury Selection of April 27, 1993.

"SUP5.\_\_" - Supplemental Record on Direct Appeal: Psychological Report of James G. Brown, dated August 18, 1993, which the trial court indicated was in the court file. (S.12).

The opinion in the case below was issued by the First District Court of Appeal June 27, 1996. (Appendix A1-3). The Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed timely filed July 17, 1996. (Appendix A4-5).

All other cites will be self-explanatory or will otherwise be explained.

#### II. STATEMENT AND HISTORY OF THE CASE

The original appeal of this case was taken from a jury trial in Circuit court, Gadsden County, Florida, held before Judge Charles McClure and acting Circuit Judge, Jill Walker, on April 27 and 29, 1994.

The Petitioner was charged by information with armed robbery with a firearm for the armed robbery of a Suwannee Swifty store in Gadsden County. (R.3).

#### MOTION IN LIMINE

A motion in limine to exclude the pretrial photographic lineup was made, (R.4-5), and argued before Judge McClure on March 31, 1993. (M.3-72). The Petitioner waived his presence at the hearing. (M.3).

The hearing revolved around showing the victim a single photograph of the petitioner the day of or the day after the robbery. (M.15-16, 25, 36) (Sup3, state's exh 1). The photograph showed him with a beard and mustache, and the robber did not have facial hair, (M.16), however, the victim noted that it was the facial features, particularly the eyes which caused her to identify him. (M.17, 39). Later, she was able to again pick out the same individual from another photo array. (M.17-18, 41-42) (Sup3, state's exh 3). The victim also claims to have recognized the appellant when his mother, Mary Washington, later brought him into the store. (M.19-20).

There was testimony indicating that the robber was 5'8", 180 pounds, and though he stayed crouched down most of the time, he stood up to remove the telephone wire, and was 9 to 10 feet from

the 5'5" victim at the time. (T.22). However she states that part of her identification was a very muscular body build in the shoulders. (M.27).

Deputy Haire presented hearsay testimony at the hearing, but not at trial, that Henry Washington, Mary's husband, said that the appellant had come by the house the morning of the incident and taken his mother's car. (M.34). It should be noted however, that Mary Washington testified at the trial that the only key to the car was kept in her purse under the head of her bed, and further that Henry Washington was so ill that he sometimes did not even recognize his own sons. (T.117-120). Henry was not called as a witness, neither for this hearing or the trial.

Also not presented at the motion hearing was that Haire had shown pictures of the car to a confidential informant (CI), who suggested Mr. Mathis as a suspect, (M.33, 46), and recommended a possible second suspect, Marcus Jackson, whose picture was placed in the second photo array, yet never identified. (M.46-47). The CI had identified Mr. Mathis as having committed a robbery the night before the actually occurred. (M.49-50). The defense requested the name of the confidential informant, the state objected to its release, and the court sustained the state's objection. (M.47-48, 50-53).

Deputy Haire also testified that the second visit to the victim, with the photo array, was at the suggestion of the prosecutor in this case, Rick Combs. (M.54-55).

The defense argued that showing a single photo was more suggestive than a live show up, the state argued they were the

same. (M.58-69). The trial court found on the evidence at the hearing, that it was not unduly suggestive. (M.69).

#### REQUEST FOR PSYCHOLOGICAL EVALUATION

While the actual motion is not included in the record, a hearing was held on such a request before Judge Walker, on June 16, 1993. The request was denied. (M.73-74) (However, see Sup5, psychological report of James Brown).

#### JURY SELECTION

Prior to the jury selection, the defense had challenged the entire venire as being racially non-representative of Gadsden County. The county is 58.8% black, 41.1% white, but the 21 people from which the jury would be chosen was 38.8% black and 61.2% white for a 20% disparity. The defense argued that this was not a fair and impartial cross-section of the community. The trial court rejected the argument, and the defense reserved on the issue. (Sup4.3-6).

Jury selection occurred on April 27, 1993, in front of Judge McClure, with the actual selection appearing at Sup4.73. At one point the state argued that the defense was striking jurors on a racially motivated basis. (Sup4.75, 76-78). However, the defense noted, it had struck two people, one was black, and this, the third strike was a white person, but "[i]nitially, in the first six people, five of them were white." (Sup4.75). After the exercise of peremptory strikes and strikes for cause, the jury was impaneled. (Sup4.80)

#### FACTS ADDUCED AT TRIAL

The basic facts of the robbery are uncontested, that two black males robbed the store before 8 AM the morning of July 27, 1992. (R.1). One of the two men stood at the door. (T.38). The other man, who looked familiar to the victim/manager, (T.34), was armed with a .25 caliber automatic pistol, (T.33), called the victim by her name, (T.31, 36, 67), was crouched down lower than the victim while she was sitting at her desk. (T.32, 37). There being no money in the safe, he took money (\$500) and food stamps out of the computer desk. (T.36). Next the robber had the victim open the cash registers, from which he again removed money. (T.36-37). He then stole some cartons of cigarettes, stood up and removed the cord from the telephone, and left the store with the second man. (T.37-38).

The victim, Lucille McKinney, turned on an alarm, (T.40), and went out to see where the two men had gone. (T.40). She then called the sheriff's department on the pay telephone. (T.42).

The victim had observed the robbers leave in a tan and brown Chevrolet, (T.66), with a dent in the passenger front fender, and noticed that the license tag was bent up. (T.41, 42, 44). As the police were finishing their investigation<sup>2</sup> that morning, a car

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As noted at sentencing, nothing in the police report indicated that she had even mentioned to police that she was familiar with the robber. (T.70)(S.43).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Despite dusting for finger prints, none were found linking Mr. Mathis to the crime -- "no identifiable prints." (M31). Neither money, food stamps, clothing matching the description of the robber, or the telephone wire taken by the armed robber were recovered (T.94) -- and the store did not have a video camera. (M31).

arrived across the street matching the description of the one in which the robbers had fled, (T.74), and which the victim identified as the same car. (T.43-44, 75)(M.14-15). The tag on the Chevrolet was registered to a 4-door Volkswagon in the name of a woman in Tallahassee and another tag found in the glove compartment was registered to the appellant and Mary Baldwin, for a 4-door Plymouth. (T.77-78). The car was driven by Mary Washington and was impounded by law enforcement. (T.92).

Deputy Haire went to Mary Baldwin's where he spoke to the appellant by telephone, collected four .25 caliber pistol cartridges -- but no gun, and was given a 6 month old, (T.85, 107), picture of the appellant standing next to Ms. Baldwin. (T.80-81, 107) (Sup3, state's exh 1).

The victim described the armed robber as "black and big, big shoulders," about 5'8" and 185<sup>3</sup> pounds. (T.42-43). She testified that she observed his face and identified the appellant in court as being the armed robber, (T.35, 49), stating that she had no doubts at all he was the one. (T.49). It was noted on cross that there were only three black males in the court room at the time of her identification, including a deputy, someone in the audience and the appellant -- sitting next to his attorney. (T.60).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Deputies Suber and Haire testified that she told them the robber 5'8" and 170 pounds. (T.67) (M.33, 56). Deputy Haire described Mr. Mathis in court as actually being 6'5" and about 220-240 pounds, and he "appeared to be a little heavier at the time of the incident. (T.96-97) (M.45). The prosecutor testified that he, Rick Combs, was 6'3", and had Deputy Haire compare his height to that of the appellant, the indication that Mr. Mathis was only 6'3". (T.98).

The day of, or the day following the robbery, the victim was shown a single photograph<sup>4</sup>, (T.44-45, 59)(M.16), which Deputy Haire had obtained from Mary Baldwin. (T.80-81). The victim indicated that the robber did not have a beard or mustache, as did the man in the photograph, appellant, Rickie Mathis. (T.45-46, 59) (Sup3, state's exh 1). Nonetheless, she testified that the photograph is of the man who robbed her. (T.46, 84). Several days later, on August 6, (M.44), she was shown a photo array containing 5 photos, and again picked out the photograph of the appellant as the man with the gun. (T.47-48, 86)(Sup3, state's However, the victim remained unable to identify the second robber from a 6 person array. (T.46, 83)(Sup3, state's exh At the suppression hearing Deputy Haire had indicated that the individuals in that array were friends or associates of the appellant. (M37).

Two or three days later, (T.61), Mary Washington, the woman who had been driving the car when it returned to the scene the day of the crime brought her son, the appellant, into the store and asked the victim to help her get her car back from the police. The victim asked them to leave and called law enforcement about the visit. (T.48-49). Mr. Mathis cashed three lottery tickets that day, he usually purchased cash three tickets -- no lottery tickets had been stolen during the robbery. (T.62).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Deputy Haire admitted that presenting one picture to a person, even though he did not say anything to that person, might be suggestive, "but I didn't have any choice in this particular case." (T.95).

When Deputy Haire had spoken with Mr. Mathis by telephone on the 27th, he did not tell Mr. Mathis that he was investigating a crime, only that he wanted to talk to him. (T.101). Mary Baldwin testified that Mr. Mathis had left their home early the morning of the robbery to go to his mother's home, that he returned home later and left again. (T.103-104). While she turned over the pistol cartridges to Haire, she did not find Mr. Mathis small silver pistol, nor did she see him with it that day. (T.107-108).

Nonetheless, the appellant, Rickie Mathis, turned himself into law enforcement on July 30, 1994, three days after the robbery. (T.100). There was no objection or contrary evidence at trial, but at the suppression hearing, Deputy Haire indicated that he did not turn himself in, but that he showed up at the jail and was arrested, (M.43), even though his report indicates that Mr. Mathis turned himself in. (M.44)

The state rested its case with the testimony of McKinney, Suber, Haire, and Baldwin. (T.111). The defense moved for judgment of acquittal in that there was no violence and the victim was not put in fear. (T.112-113). Denied. (T.114).

Mary Washington, the appellant's mother, testified that the appellant did not drive her car -- the one identified by the victim -- because she does not let him drive it, and there is only one key to the car, and she had the key in her pocketbook under the head of her bed. (T.119-120). She had awakened about 6 AM that morning, and she did not see her son that day. (T.139).

When Ms. Washington called the appellant about her car being impounded, he indicated he thought that law enforcement were

after him for child support payments. She asked him and his brother to accompany her to the scene of the crime, and both went willingly. (T.122-123). She denies asking the victim to help her get her car back from the police, (T.147), and testified that when she and her sons were in the store, the victim told Ms. Washington that neither of them were involved. (T.148). She then testified that Rickie wanted to go to the Sheriff's department, because he was afraid they would simply "blow my brains out, and I ain't done nothing." (T.125-126).

Ms. Washington surprised both the state and defense by producing lottery tickets allegedly bought by the appellant on the day he turned himself in, and the day of the robbery, in the store that was robbed. (T.126-127). The state claimed a discovery violation, despite the fact that they had listed her as their own witness. (T.128-130). A Richardson hearing was held, whereby testimony regarding the lottery tickets purchased on the 29th of July would be allowed, but not the tickets purchased on the 27th, the day of the robbery. (T.130-138).

The victim, Lucille McKinney, testified in rebuttal that she called the sheriff when Ms. Washington brought the appellant into the store, because she recognized him as the robber and was afraid, (T.149-150), and that she did not indicate to Ms. Washington or the appellant that she had recognized him at that time. (T.150).

The testimony ended, the defense renewed its motion for JOA, and its continuing motion in limine -- both denied. (T.154). The

jury returned a guilty verdict -- "as charged of armed robbery with a deadly weapon, with a firearm." (T.206).

#### SENTENCING

Immediately following the trial, the state filed notice of intent to seek habitual offender sentencing, (R.10-11), to which the defense responded with a motion challenging the statute as unconstitutional. (R.12-21).

Sentencing was held before Judge Walker on June 29, 1994. Prior to sentencing, trial counsel had moved to withdraw, (R.29-30), and had been replaced by conflict counsel, Robert Travis<sup>5</sup>. (R.31). Later, counsel for sentencing was Don Modesitt, who also filed a motion for new trial. (R.38-40). The state filed an amended notice of intent to seek habitual offender status. (R.43-44).

Without objection, the state offered evidence indicating the requisite previous convictions for habitual offender status. (S.3-5, 7). It was noted however, that Mr. Modesitt, appellant's counsel at sentencing, had been State Attorney on one of the underlying cases. (S.5). Inquiry was made, and Mr. Mathis waived any objection to Mr. Modesitt's representation. (S.5-6).

A reservation of the objection was noted as to the constitutionality of the habitual offender statute. (S8-9). The psychological report of Dr. James Brown was argued before the trial court. (S.10-12). The appellant was noted to be borderline

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Mr. Travis did NEITHER a motion for new trial, sentencing, or file for appeal; ostensibly because of a conflict with the appellant. While not part of this brief, the conflict is laid out in companion case 1st DCA No. 94-2464, Issues I and III.

mentally retarded, and the psychologist recommended that he not be sentenced as an habitual violent offender. (S.11, 39). Melvin Dill, a training specialist with Life Skills Foundation gave testimony indicating that the appellant had gone through the VIP program and had become a changed person, (S.13-15), having even been elected class spokesperson for graduation. (S.15-16). The appellant's mother, Mary Washington, told of his family history and family and church support. (S.24-28).

Finally, Rickie Mathis, the appellant himself, took the stand concerning the VIP program and the change in attitude it had given him, and how he wanted to be able to take responsibility for support of his daughter. (S.28-32).

There was no Pre Sentence Investigation (PSI) done for this case, and though counsel objected to sentencing without one, (S.45-46), the trial court proceeded to sentence the appellant as an habitual offender. (S.47). Objections were made to some of the convictions scored on the scoresheet, and overruled. (S.49-51)(R.52). Mr. Mathis was sentenced as an habitual offender to life in prison with a minimum of 15 years incarceration. (S.57) (R.45-51, 54-56).

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court abused it's discretion in allowing into evidence a pretrial, out-of-court, single photograph identification, which was impermissibly suggestive. There was no other evidence against the appellant except that identification, and it was tainted.

The trial court failed to follow longstanding law which required the appellant to be present at the bench during jury selection.

#### IV. FIRST ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED: DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE OF A PRETRIAL PHOTOGRAPHIC IDENTIFICATION WHICH WAS IMPERMISSIBLY SUGGESTIVE.

The conviction of Rickie Mathis is based totally on one eyewitness identification, -- identification which was tainted by an impermissibly suggestive single photographic array.

Neither fingerprints, nor proceeds of the robbery were ever found or linked to Mr. Mathis. No co-defendant was produced even though police showed the witness a photo array of Mr. Mathis friends and associates. (M.37). No weapon has been found, and cartridges found at Mr. Mathis home have not only NOT been linked to the crime -- but not even definitely to Mr. Mathis. Thus, only the identification by the victim links Mr. Mathis to the crime.

The United States Supreme Court, in <u>United States v. Wade</u>, 388 U.S. 218, 229, 87 S.Ct. 1926, 1933, 18 L.Ed.2d 1149 (1967), cited with approval Wall's <u>Eyewitness Identification in Criminal</u> Cases where in it was noted that:

"[t]he influence of improper suggestion upon identifying witnesses probably accounts for more miscarriages of justice than any other single factor -- perhaps it is responsible for more miscarriages of justice than all other factors combined."

<u>Wade</u>, 388 U.S. at 229, 87 S.Ct. at 1933; <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Judd v.</u> State, 402 So.2d 1279, 1280 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

A motion in limine to exclude the pre trial photographic lineup, (R.4-5), was argued before Judge McClure on March 31, 1993, (M.3-72), concerning whether the police used an unnecessarily suggestive procedure in obtaining an out-of-court

identification, and if so; did the suggestive procedure give rise to a substantial likelihood of an irreparable misidentification. (M.4-5). This is ostensibly the test required by Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S.Ct. 375, 34 L.Ed.2d 401 (1972). See also, Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 53 L. Ed.2d 140 (1977); Grant v. State, 390 So.2d 341 (Fla. 1980); Carrasco v. State, 470 So.2d 858 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

The victim was shown a single photograph of the petitioner shortly after the robbery. (M.15-16, 25, 36)(Sup3, state's exh 1). The 7 month-old-photograph showed petitioner with a beard and mustache. The robber did not have facial hair. (M.16). The victim said it was the eyes which caused her to identify him. (M.16-17, 39)(T.44-45, 59, 80-81).

Deputy Haire allegedly walked in and laid the picture of the appellant on the counter before the victim -- without saying a word. (M.16). Even if this is so, as the defense argued at the suppression hearing:

in giving that picture to the victim, you say: What do you think? We think he is. But without saying it, you don't have to say that, you just throw it in front of them and they go: Hmmm.

(M.67).

The damage was done, the identification tainted. Had the victim seen Mr. Mathis in a live show-up, as opposed to a picture, she would have realized that he was CONSIDERABLY larger than the man who robbed her, according to her description of him.

The victim had described the armed robber to the deputies as black and big, 5'8" and 170 pounds, (T.67)(M.33, 56). However, Deputy Haire described Mr. Mathis in court as actually being 6'5"

and about 220-240 pounds, and he "appeared to be a little heavier at the time of the incident. (T.96-97)(M.45). While there was also an indication that Mr. Mathis was only 6'3", (T.98), Mr. Mathis is still as much as 7 inches taller and 50 to 70 pounds heavier than the robber the victim described to the deputies.

Deputy Haire was correct when he admitted that presenting one picture to a person, even though he did not say anything to that person, might be suggestive. However, he alleged, "I didn't have any choice in this particular case." (T.95). This does not remove the taint.

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