ORIGINAL

FILED STD J. WHITE

SEP 24 1996

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICKIE RENORIED MATHIS,

Petitioner,

v.

t

هي.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 88,517

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

GISELLE LYLEN RIVERA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0508012

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

Judd therefore is inapplicable to this case where the victim made a positive and unequivocal identification of the Petitioner incourt, the victim made three other identifications of the Petitioner outside of court, and the identifications were not riddled with the frailties inherent in Judd.

The trial court's ruling admitting identification evidence must be affirmed.

- 23 -

ISSUE II

DOES THE DECISION IN <u>CONEY V. STATE</u>, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 116 S. Ct. 315, 133 L. Ed. 2d 218 (1995), APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT APPEAL OR OTHERWISE NOT YET FINAL WHEN THE OPINION WAS RELEASED? (Restated from Petitioner's Brief)

This Court has discretion to decide whether to address questions certified by the district courts to be of great public importance. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; <u>State v. Burgess</u>, 326 So. 2d 441 (Fla. 1976); <u>Stein v. Darby</u>, 134 So. 2d 232 (Fla. 1961). For the following reasons, the State respectfully asks this Court to decline to review the certified question in the case at bar.

In Jones v. State, 569 So. 2d 1234, 1237 (Fla. 1990), this Court held that the defendant's absence from sidebar conferences where peremptory strikes were announced was <u>not</u> error because the defendant was given the opportunity to confer with counsel at defense table prior to the conferences. <u>Coney v. State</u>, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), which the Court decided some four years later, changed the law. It held that the defendant has a right under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.180 to stand at the bench with counsel,

- 24 -

and not merely sit at defense table, when peremptory challenges are announced. Indeed, Justice Overton expressly recognized <u>Coney</u>'s departure from previous, well-established judicial practice:

> Judges have believed for nearly fifteen years that exercising challenges at the bench, outside the hearing of the jury while the defendant was at counsel table, was proper because the defendant was present in the courtroom.

<u>Id.</u> at 1016 (Overton, J., concurring in result only). Further, the fact that <u>Coney</u> constituted a change in the law, and a departure from the previous practice, is apparent from the sheer number of cases litigating the <u>Coney</u> issue.²

²Petitioner nevertheless claims that <u>Conev</u> did **not** constitute a change in the law, but that it instead "clarified" this Court's previous decisions on the issue by requiring trial courts to "inquire and certify waivers and ratification of the actions of counsel on the record." Petitioner's initial brief at Petitioner asserts that defendants always had the right to 12. be present at the bench during jury selection, and that the only part of the <u>Coney</u> decision that is "new" and "prospective" is the aforementioned waiver certification requirement. Petitioner's initial brief at 12. However, in the two cases on which petitioner relies, the defendant was not even present in the same **room** with the judge and the lawyers when counsel announced their strikes. See Francis v. State, 413 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 1982) (defendant was in the bathroom part of the time while prospective jurors were questioned in the courtroom, and when the judge and counsel retired to the jury room to exercise peremptory strikes, the defendant was left in the courtroom); and Turner v. State, 530 So. 2d 45, 47 (Fla. 1987) (defendant was not present in the judge's chambers when jurors were challenged). Francis and

This Court held that the new rule it announced in Coney was "prospective only." Coney, 653 So. 2d at 1013. There is nothing ambiguous about this language, or about the prospectivity principle in general. As this Court has repeatedly held, prospective decisions do not apply to cases tried before the new decision was announced, regardless of whether such cases are still pending on appeal. See, e.g., Fenelon v. State, 594 So. 2d 292, 293 and 295 (Fla. 1992) ("We agree with the State that giving the flight instruction, even if erroneous, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt . . .," and "we approve the result below although we direct that henceforth the jury instruction on flight shall not be given"); Taylor v. State, 630 So. 2d 1038, 1042 (Fla. 1994) ("This Court intended that the holding in Fenelon be applied prospectively only, and, since Taylor was tried before our decision in Fenelon was issued, the trial court did not err given the circumstances of this case."); <u>Wuornos v.</u> State, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1007 n.4 (Fla. 1994) (citations omitted) ("We recognize that this holding [that a prior decision is to have 'prospective effect only'] may seem contrary to a portion of

<u>Turner</u> therefore do <u>not</u> stand for the proposition that a defendant has a "right" to be present at the bench when the parties exercise their peremptory challenges, as petitioner suggests.

Smith v. State, 598 So. 2d 1063, 1066 (Fla. 1992), which can be read to mean that any new rule of law announced by this Court always must be given retrospective application. However, such a reading would be inconsistent with a number of intervening cases. We read <u>Smith</u> to mean that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court says otherwise."); and Domberg v. State, 661 So. 2d 285, 287 (Fla. 1995) (in <u>Wuornos</u>, <u>Smith</u> was "read to mean that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court says otherwise"). Thus, this Court's statement in Coney that the decision in that case is to be applied only prospectively means, simply and clearly, that the decision is to be applied only to those cases tried after the decision in Coney was issued.

Petitioner now claims that even though he was tried and convicted **before** this Court issued its <u>Coney</u> decision, this Court should apply <u>Coney</u> to his case and grant him a new trial because he was not present at the bench when counsel announced their peremptory challenges. To support this claim, petitioner asserts that equal protection demands that Petitioner be granted the same relief as was granted Coney. However, the critical fact

- 27 -

petitioner overlooks is that the defendant in <u>Coney</u> was <u>not</u> given the benefit of the new rule the Court announced in that case. The simple truth is that Coney was not released from custody, he was not granted a new trial, and neither his conviction nor his sentence was reduced as a result of his absence from the sidebar conference when the parties exercised their peremptory challenges. Thus, because the new rule announced in <u>Coney</u> was not even applied to Coney, there clearly is no rational basis for applying that new rule to petitioner, thereby affording him greater relief than Coney himself received. In any event, because this Court's direction in <u>Coney</u> that the decision there is to be applied prospectively is unambiguous, there is no need for this Court to accept jurisdiction to answer the certified question in this case concerning that prospective application.

Should this Court exercise its discretion to address the certified question, the State asks that the Court answer the question in the negative and clarify the rule it announced in <u>Coney</u>. The law should be made clear that if a defendant wishes to stand at the bench with the lawyers when they announce their peremptory strikes, the burden is on the defendant to make his or her request known to the judge. A defendant who remains silent waives the right to be present at bench conferences, and cannot

- 28 -

be heard to complain for the first time on appeal about his or her absence from the sidebar conference.

This Court recently applied the contemporaneous objection rule to violations of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.180. In <u>Gibson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 661 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 1995), decided after <u>Coney</u>, the defendant argued that the trial court violated his right to be present with counsel during a bench conference when the parties conducted their jury challenges, and that it further violated his right to the assistance of counsel when the court denied defense counsel's request to consult with the defendant before exercising peremptory challenges. However, this Court rejected Gibson's argument as follows:

> In Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982), we said that, "in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below." In this case, we find that Gibson's lawyer did not raise the issue that is now being asserted on appeal. If counsel wanted to consult with his client over which jurors to exclude and to admit, he did not convey this to the trial court. On the record, he asked for an afternoon recess for the general purpose of meeting with his client. Further, there is no indication in this record that Gibson was prevented or limited in any way from consulting with his counsel concerning the exercise of juror challenges. On this record, no objection to the court's procedure was ever made. In

> > - 29 -

short, Gibson has demonstrated neither error nor prejudice on the record before this Court.

Id. at 290-291 (emphasis added, citation omitted). The Court in <u>Gibson</u> thus implied that a defendant must object to his or her absence from any bench conference at which the parties exercise their jury challenges in order to preserve the <u>Coney</u> issue for appellate review. <u>See also Hardwick v. Dugger</u>, 648 So. 2d 100, 105 (Fla. 1994) (defendant's failure to participate in bench conferences held during trial was not fundamental error); <u>Shriner</u> <u>v. State</u>, 452 So. 2d 929, 930 (Fla. 1984) (defendant's absence from "various bench conferences" not fundamental error). The State now asks this Court to clarify <u>Coney</u> by <u>expressly</u> stating that a defendant may not raise the <u>Coney</u> issue for the first time on appeal.

The requirement of a contemporaneous objection to preserve the <u>Coney</u> issue is compatible with the approach taken by the federal courts. Under Fed. R. Crim. P. 43, which is comparable to Rule 3.180, a defendant need not be warned of the right to be present, and the defendant waives that right unless he or she expressly invokes it. <u>See</u> Fed. R. Crim. P. 43(b)(1) and (3); and <u>United States v. Gagnon</u>, 470 U.S. 522, 527-530, 105 S. Ct. 1482, 84 L. Ed. 2d 486 (1985) (right waived where defendant did not ask

- 30 -

to be present during in camera discussion among judge, juror, and one of the defense lawyers). Moreover, contrary to petitioner's argument here, a defendant's absence from sidebar conferences where the parties announce their peremptory challenges does not offend the constitution. See, e.g., United States v. Gayles, 1 F.3d 735, 738 (8th Cir. 1993) (defendant was absent from courtroom when attorney announced strikes over the lunch break, but he was present when clerk gave strikes effect by reading off list of selected jurors); United States v. McCoy, 8 F.3d 495, 496-497 (7th Cir. 1993) (defendant was not present at sidebar conference where "the attorneys discussed their peremptory challenges, only one of which raised any concern"); United States v. Bascaro, 742 F.2d 1335, 1349-1350 (11th Cir. 1984) (defendants in courtroom entire time but lawyers left courtroom briefly to confer collectively to decide on peremptory strikes). Again, this Court should clarify <u>Coney</u> to require a contemporaneous objection before a defendant may argue on appeal that he or she was improperly excluded from a sidebar conference during which the parties' lawyers announced their peremptory challenges; and because petitioner in the case at bar wholly failed to object to his absence from the bench conference, his <u>Coney</u> claim was not

- 31 -

cognizable on direct appeal before the First District, and it is not cognizable in this Court.

Finally, petitioner briefly asserts that the State is "estopped" from presenting any argument in this case on the Coney issue because the assistant attorney general who represented the State in Coney conceded that error occurred when Coney was absent from the bench conference where the parties exercised their jury challenges. See Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d at 1013 ("The State concedes that this rule violation was error, but claims that it was harmless."). However, contrary to petitioner's claim, the State is **not** "estopped" from advancing inconsistent arguments on the law in different cases. There are three estoppel doctrines: mutual collateral, nonmutual collateral, and judicial. Judicial estoppel does not apply here because that doctrine is limited to a party's positions on the "facts." Rand G. Boyers, Comment, Precluding Inconsistent Statements: The Doctrine of Judicial Estoppel, 80 NW. U. L. Rev. 1244, 1262 (1986). Further, mutual collateral estoppel does not apply here because that doctrine requires that the parties be the same; that is, the defendant must be the same in both proceedings. Ashe v. Swenson, 397 U.S. 436, 443, 90 S. Ct. 1189, 25 L. Ed. 2d 469 (1970). Moreover, nonmutual (different parties, as here) collateral estoppel does

- 32 -

not extend to the government. <u>United States v. Mendoza</u>, 464 U.S. 154, 104 S. Ct. 568, 78 L. Ed. 2d 379 (1984); <u>Standefer v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 447 U.S. 10, 100 S. Ct. 1999, 64 L. Ed. 2d 689 (1980); <u>Nichols v. Scott</u>, 69 F.3d 1255, 1268-1274 (5th Cir. 1995). Finally, pure questions of law, such as the one at issue here (i.e., what does a rule of procedure mean), arising in unrelated cases are excepted from the collateral estoppel doctrine. <u>Mendoza</u>, 464 U.S. at 162 n.7.

Petitioner relies on <u>State v. Pitts</u>, 249 So. 2d 47 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971), for the proposition that the Equal Protection Clause prohibits the State from taking different positions on a legal issue. However, petitioner misreads that case. A party's "confession of error," as occurred in <u>Pitts</u> and <u>Coney</u>, is nothing more than the party's opinion on the law. That opinion does not bind the Court, <u>State v. Lozano</u>, 616 So. 2d 73, 75 n.4 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); <u>L.S. v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), for the obvious reason that only the Court has the power to say what the law means. <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So. 2d 613, 616 (Fla. 1989). It is only when the Court adopts the opinion of a party as its own that it becomes the law, and it is at this point that it must be applied equally to everyone. This is what was of concern to the <u>Pitts</u> court.

- 33 -

The Equal Protection Clause requires the government to apply the law, **not** the government's opinion on the law, equally to all similarly situated persons. The government's opinion on the law may be wrong, either to the defendant's detriment or his benefit. If it is to the defendant's detriment, the harm will be remedied. If it is to the defendant's benefit, the windfall stands. Although windfalls cannot be undone, the government can prevent others from unjustly reaping the benefit of the error. <u>Mendoza</u>, 464 U.S. at 161-162.³ Petitioner therefore is incorrect in his assertion that the State may not present a different argument in the case at bar than it did in its brief in <u>Coney</u>, and this Court should reject that claim.

³The contemporaneous objection rule limits the arguments that the losing party can advance on appeal. State v. Applegate, 591 P. 2d 371, 373 (Ore. App. 1979), sets out the many policy reasons for this rule. The prevailing party, however, is not limited by what it argued in the lower court. This is so because of the procedural rule which requires appellate courts to affirm the decisions of lower courts if correct, even though based on faulty reasoning. Stuart v. State, 360 So. 2d 406, 408 (Fla. 1978). The primary purpose for this rule is obvious: "It would be wasteful to send a case back to a lower court to reinstate a decision which it had already made but which the appellate court concluded should properly be based on another ground within the power of the appellate court to formulate." Securities and Exchange Comm'n v, Chenery Corp., 318 U.S. 80, 88, 63 S. Ct. 454, 87 L. Ed. 626 (1943).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully submits the certified question, if the Court decides to address it, should be answered in the negative, the Court should decline to review the issue not certified, and the decision of the First District Court of Appeal, affirming the trial court, should be approved.